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After a jury had:been duly impaneled and 8W  

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the 'Turn you 

discuss this case, aor form nor express:any o 

it, but keep your, minds open and free until 

to you. 

I will relieve you until half past eleven 

morning, as there is another case on here that I clesi 

finish before taking up this case. For that reason, 

need not report here until that time but I will be glad:' 

if you will be promp y here at half past eleven. 

liew York, April 7,1 

TRIAL RESUMED. 
10 

MR. CAMPBELL: May it Please the Court, during the 

District Attorney's opening and the taking of the tes—

timony, I respectfully ask that all the witnesses be ext.. 

cluded from the Court room. 

THE COURT: Yes, they may, but I will ask them to 

stay within convenient reach of the officers, EM that we 

will not be delayed. 

Mr. MoNish opened the casMOn behalf of the People. 



:OHN C L I)?)• 0 B DL ESLEY being cailedand 

duly sworn as a :witness on behalf of the People 

as follows: 

DIREDT TiXAMINAT ION BY 1.M. McNISH: 

Q, Where do you work Lesley? A 160 Bleecker Stret 

Mills Hotel. 

Q, Mills Hotel, No. 1? A No11 yes, sir. 

Q, That is on Bleecker street, in the city, and county o 

New York, between what streets? A Between Thompson, street 

and Sullivan street. 

ct Then it is on the south side of Bleecker litre 

A Yes, Sir. 

Q, And that is a hot el accommodat ing approximately how man 

guests? A 1554, exactly. 

BY MI. CAIVIPEELL: 

Q ,Tust a little louder, Mr. Lesley?,' 

Q Keep your voice up all the time °please? A Yea. 

BY TM. McNISIT.: 

Q, Do you know the prices that range in that hotel? 

A yes, sir. 

Q, That are they? A 20 cents a night and 30 cent s. 

Q, 20 cents a night and. 30 cents? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That was your position in that hotel? A I was em... 

• ployed as head porte 

Q, Head. porter? A That night. 



Speak louder so that the jurymen can hear you? 

Q How long, have you been employed as head.portor 

A For three months. 

Q When did you stop? A. About the 28th 

1908. 

(I Now, did you sea, or When did you first see thia.AIfet 

ant? A On the nigIt of the occUrrence. 

Q, That was on the llt h o f • March.? A Yes 

Q, This year? A Yes, sir, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q That was the first time? 

yes. 

BY MR. MCNISH: 

Q Where was the defendant when you first saw' hiM 

the public toilet of the 

Now, the public toilet of the hotel is on eat floor of 

the hotel? A On the main floor, Sir. Well, it is immodiat. 

ly above the main floor. 

Q As you enter the hotel, how do you get into the hotel 

A Off Bleecker street tier e is a short flight .of stairs, 04m, 

sLeps on the stairs, and you reach the main floor. 2he 

toilet is reached by mother short flight of stairs leading 

from the main floor to the toilet. 

Q And when you get up this al vt of stairs from the mxin 

floor to tr! toilet what do you at Inter? A You enter 



#ia.cor-....% • " 

a small porch. 

Q And ap-oroximately how large is 

should say four feet square. 

Q, That if anything is ill there? A 

Q Yes? 'A Nothing, 

Q Well, is that enclosed or is open? 

closed. 

hat? 

Q From this small room you call a porch, there •IX 4, 

A Two doors, sir. 

Q Two doors? A Yes. 

Q, The door which you enter a.id nother door 

doors? A Welllit is one door, and it is a swi* 

you know. 

Q A double swinging door? A A double 

Q, Where do es that double swinging door 

the public urinal. 

Q, And how large a room is that? A 

should say. 

20 feet sqllar 

About 20 feet squire, and is there anything else in 

that room except the urinals? A Yes, sir, there is c'i.airo4 

a bootblack stand.„, the chairs of the bootblack stand. 

Q A bootblatk stand and urinal? A Yes, sir. 

Q But there are no watercloset seats in there? A Not 

sir, none whatever. 

Q, 7o- nany xits are there to this Urinal? A Just the 

one 



• Q Well, the one that you COMB in from 

there another door in that? A There is an° 

into the public toilets, but there is no meaMS 

Q Leading into the toilets? A Yes. 

Q And what kind of door is that that leads fr 

al into the toilet? A Swinging door, similar •ta 

leading from the porch into the urinal. 

cl When you pass from the urinals into the tali 

you just describe how that toilet is arranged? 

the urinal into the toilet, there 4s a corrid4t* 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What did you say? A Leading from 

the toilet, there is a Corridor, and on the right of 

there is a .wall; on the let there is three paos4 

sages, I Should say. These four passages have ger 

each side of them. 

Q They back up against each other? A Yes, sir4:-6xa0 

back up against each other. 

Q And the closets are in the middle; are they?- A Them. 

is a passage in the middle, and a 'Ilan sitting here, has a man 

behind him, sir (indicating). 

Q I see, and openingfrom above? And opening friliA 

above, yes, sir. 

BY TAR. EtNISH: 

Q, Now, as I understand, as you walk in the toile t 



the door, there is a plain passage right thou 

On this side here, •the right side, 'as• 

it is a perfectly plain lk? A Perfectly 'plain% 

Q And on the left, there are passages down, 

those passages are the different ii A re' 

Q Now, as you come in the. door from the urinid 

left, what is directly at your left as you walkcainto 

A Tmmediately on entering the toilet? 

Q Immediately on entering the toilet? A The side 

wall of one Of the toilets that is, a partition t-40 

partition of one of the toilets. 

I Show you this paper, did you make that d Agr*, 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And does that, in a rough way, Show 

plan of that urinal is? A Yes. 

MR. MCNISH: I offer that in evidence. 

THE COURT: Is that correct? 

MR. CAMPBELL: It is a general idea. 

TEE COURT: It may be marked, if thre is no objec—

tion. 

exactly what the 

(Narked People's Exhibit i). 

Q Now, is the floor in the toiletall the same height? 

A No, sir. 

Q Well, where is th3re a difference in it? A bat ering 

the toilet from the urinal there is a passage. Well, then, in 



order 

ridor 

reach one of the toilets, there is a step from thd' c 

,the level with the toilets. 

Q That is describing this .as the corridor (indiosti# 

A Yes, sir. 

Q That is on a level as you come through 

sir. 

Q And to go into any of the toilets hire, you 

take one step up (indicating)? 
A yes sir. • 

cl And that floor there, this part is all the 

(indicating)? A Yes, sir, wtactly. 

Now, these toilets 

same height 

first, there is just one set 

toilets there (indicating) A One set af toilets, •74H3 

Q And then here in the cEntre there are two sets? A Yes 

(1 With a partition running through the centre? A Yes. 

Q And each of these are arranged in the same way? A In 

the same way. 

Q And as a person would sit on the seats on these, they 

would be back to back if they were using the toilets? A Back 

to back, exactly. 

Now, the partitions between the separate toilets, are 

made of what? A I should say it is pitch pine sheeting. 

:ado of pine, or wood? A They are made of wood, 

all events. 

And what is the aeight of time partitions? A 7 feet. 

Q And ao they run to the top? A. 101 sir. 



The ceiling i,s still on further above? 

Q, And do they run to the floor? A 11 

Q How high above the floor are they? 

should say about 15 inches a foot or 1$ inehes. 

q 15 inches from the floor? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And. they rest. on what? 

Now, the partition that runs 

ing them -- A Yes, sir: 

Q, How high is that partition, is it the same,h02, 

the others? A Possibly two or throe incheS highe 

Q About two or three inches higher? 

Q And how low does that run 

foot, 15 inches of the ground. 

Q, The same distance from the ground is the .o. 

A Yes, sir. 

And that is made of mod also? A MeS4 

Now, in front of these are other doors?, 

Q And what kind of doors? A Wooden doors. 

Q Are they solid wood? A Yes,. sir. 

Q, Or are they flat doors? A Well, I should 

are about an inch thick. That is, the Sheeting in the 

about an inch thick. 

Q And how large are these doors, ,hów high ire 

the ground? A Uell, about three feet. 

Q About three feet fran the ground? A Yes. 



Q, That is, theya re that htea inclicatia 

Yes --,no,, not quite that high. High 'enou 

front of the toilet, they are high awash to see i. 

knees if heshould he sitting inside of the toile 

And how high are they at the t A 

about 2 feet. Well, I cannot 

Q The door is about 2 'feet, you mean? 

high taking it that way (indicating). 

Q Well now, just stand up, and tell us, if you we 

lug in front of one of those doors, tell us about whaivt 

would Come to? A The top 6f the door, sir, wtuld 6000 

about here (indicating). 

Q Where would the bottom of the 

(indicating). 

BY THF COURT: 

Q About to your knees? A About a little dbo 

BY 1dR. T5cNISH: 

Q Then about what is the space between the teilek, 

A The width of the corridor. 

Q The width of the corridor that runs in between them? 

A About between 3 to 4 feet. 

Q Now, this partition between the toilots, how are thP 

built, that kind of partitions are they; you said they vitro 

wood? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, are they solid wood, or how? A They tre panel* 



.vhc17, 

Q How many panels are there? 

And about what is the size of the 

say about 15 inches by *2 feet. 2 feet long '4 

Q, Well, what first attracted your attanttO 

fendant on March 11th? .A I entered the publi 

I noticed that Duffy, the man who las working *it 

climbed up on one of the partitions between the t 

was evidently observing something that was gain 

him. 

lAR. CAMPBELL: I move 

serving something going on" and so forth. 

THE COURT' Yes, tat may be stricken en 

Q, Just tell us exactly what you saw and do  n 

any of your deductions? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, You saw Duffy, you say? 

Q, Who is -Duffy? A The man that was working 

Eipployed by the hotel? A Thi.alls 110441 

BY TIR. McNISH: 

Q What time of day or night was this?', A Von minuttik 

nine at night. 

Q, Ten minutes to nine in the evening? A 19444 

Q Now, in lAihich one of these toilets was 3W-tr.-Ott* 

you first saw him? A Exactly there, sir (indicating) 

my finger nail is. 
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Q Just about, or just putna otos 

is in Vhich Duffy wee? A, (WitneOg 

of that partition Where the "X" is. 

Q, Be was on top of': that partition? 

Q, And what if anything did Duffy do? 

into the toil'it and he motioned to me that  

(indicating). 

Q What did you then do? •A I went down 

lice and brought NI% Sweet up, the manager. 

Q, Mr. Sweet is the manager, and was at that time ,mana 

A Well, he is assistant superintendent but that 

acting as manager. 

Q Acting manager? A Yes. 

Q And you went down and spoke to Mr. Sweet. 

Q Then what occurred? A Mr. SweeV,rsturne 

the public toilet. 

Q, And When you went into the public toilet, V' 0 

thing did you see then? A Still saw Duffy. 

Q Where was Duffy when you saw him? A •)  t1  

left 'him, on the top of that partition., 

Q And in Which direction was Duffy towards, Which !pito 

face towards, Which way? A Facing this way (indicati 

Q Pacing out that way? A Yes. 

Q Then, 'ell us what ocTurred? A Duffy mo 04.0_0 

to sweet Lnd 1.:(373 liack, exactly the OMA 
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A.APP 

motioned to me-previously, but then atter Pi3r 

pause he motioned to us to Open the doOrat 

underneath where he was concealed.. 

Q Yes? A We did so. 

• Q, Now, where did you go, Whatbdodr 

ness indicates on People's Ehibit 1) l'014n44' 

. Q Nowli just tell us ---

ITR. CAMPBELL: That is that? 

MR.MCNISH: That is this door (indiaat 

QNow, just tell us whati if anything, you. Sat 

opened the door? A Inside o± the toilet there w 

in a half sitting, a half crouching posture' 

Q Do you know who that man was? 

his name as Daily. 

Yes, all right, go on, describe it? 

that separated the toilet, his toilet from Oat—o 

man was found, there had been a hole cut, a hiC 

angular Shape. 

R Describe that hole to us, how large wa0A.t1. 

6 inches by 3, 5 inc:lies by 3, perhaps. 

Q, well, you say it wa s triangular in shape, 

P \Jell, cannot s7Itow us 7ith your hands? •A (Iplioa 

ing) aL that rize. 

osition 

Ind '7. (31-;1,t of that hole? A p inches. 

P ri'10 '01P ir, Ileight? A Yes. 
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Q, , And the base of it was about howmUch/ - A' 

inches. 

Q• And how high from the floor was that hOlet 

inches. From the floor? 

Q From the floor, about how high? A. - 3' feet 

Q About 3 feet? A Approximately 3 feet 

Q, And in which panel was that hole? A The *world, 

panel from the bottom. 

Q1 Counting fr aa the bottom, it was the second? 

ing from the bottom it was the Second panel. 

Q Now, go on and describe What you Saw there? A, This 

man, as I say, was sitting in a crouching posture.. 'ha 

mouth to this hole, and T could Plainly see tha.'t : Protru,dint 

fram thi hole, there was what I tot* to  be 4 man.is private part f 

and he had this private part in. his mouth. When the hothe that 

made by opening the door, of course, attracted him he stood 

up. I took him out of t7:e toilet theu. 

Q. Now, was 1-!e sitting on the seat of the.toilet at the 

time you saw 11:m.? A NO, sir. May T show you? 

Yes? A He was like that (indicating). 

And face was close against, near the partition? 

A Yes, sir. Close against, yes, sir., 

Q When you opened the door he stood up?, A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were his clothes fastened or unfastened? A Un-

fastened. 



And what if anything did you say? A. X said, 

you are caught in the act." 
4 

MR. CATBELL I object to this. 

BY THE COURT: 

Whon was this said to? A' To Daily. 

THE COURT: I will exclude it. 

BY HR. .721bNISH: 

Q Where was the defendant at that time? AIn the next 

toilet, sir, in the next toilet to the one I opened. 

Q And did you speak in a loud voice or no Daill 

A I spoke, well, in a voice that I could be heard for 

feet either way. 

ISR. CAMPBELL: I nave to strike that out as a 

elusion. 

THE COURT: Yes, strike it out. 

Q Well, Daily fastened his clothes? A Yes, Sii. 

Q And came out? A Cane outside. 

Q And When Daily came out, where was the defendant then? 

A Inside, in the toilet, in the next to:let to where Daily had 

been. 

Q, The next toilet, in this toilet (indicating)? A ,Yes, 

sir, exactly. 

And Who else was there? A There was no one in the 

toilet, but at the door Mr. Sweet was standing  

Q, And what if anything was said then in the presence of 

• 



this defendanti that you remember, if anything vas 'Said? 

A Mr. Sweet left the toilet to go down to.getiTr. Tb.0104s, 

this defendant -- do you mean what he said to me? 

Q Anything that vas said there while he was present 

could hear it? A He said to me, "My God, man this ,it, 

first time I have ever been caught with anything like .sthI 

I said "You can tell that to somebody else; it is none of my 

business." 

Q Anything else said? Tell us everything that as said? 

A Then there was only Duffy and myself in the toilet ád .I 

thought that 

MR. CAMPBELL: Objected 

Q Never mind miaat you saw. Just tell us what ocettrre 

A There was only Duffy and myself in the toilet and said 

that there was no use in trying to get out or to break past 

us. That wa all that wa s said until Mr. Thomas 

BY THE COURT: 

Q This conversation was with the defendant? A as 

with the defendant, yes, sir. 

BY MR. 7cNISF: 

Then that ocaurred when Mr. Thomas arrived? A Mr. 

Thomas asked me, if I considered it advisable.--

. CA:1113ELL: I object to this unless said in the 

presence of the defendant? 

THE COURT: Yes, unless said in the presence of the 



4t. 
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defendant. 

A (Continuing): It was in the presence OC th 

BY THE COURT: 

Q And in hishearing? A And in his bear 

Q All right, go on  A Mr. Thomas asked 

sidered it advisable to get a policeman, and he t 

for a police officer. 

BY YR. ITcNISH: 

Q Well, did the police of  arrive? A Yes. 

Q, And did he place the defendant under arrest? 

Where was the defendant when he placed him. Under arieti 

A In the corridor leading to the toilet where we TO 

Q That is, out here .(indicating)? A 

or here (indicating). 

Q Right in front of.the toilet that he 

Yes, with his back up against the wall? 

Q You waited right there until the officer .came 

A Yes, did not let hit out of there. 

Q And placed him under arrest? A Yes. 

O When you first saw thedefendant, after you ioad seen 

what you describe concerning Daily, what was the condition of 

the defendant, as to his clothing? A His trousers were un 

buttoned, as much unbuttoned as a nan s - 

Ilever mind characterizing it. His trousers were un 

buttoned? A Yes, cir. 

....,-11-kar,waiikas~110‘ • 



Q And were they pulled up or j1113 

A No, sir, they were half down, 4.061,6*e 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY IR. CAMPBELL: 

Q Where were: you employed before yol.v10* 

Hotel? A Boston & Maine Railroad  in Bost 

Q How long were.you employed by them  

Q Why did you leave there? A I left thet.0 

ness was bad in the railroad business. 

Q, Were you discharged? A Yes sir. 

Q Where were you .employed before that? 

Pacific Railroad, Montreal., Canada. 

Q How long Were you there? A SeVen months 

Q Were you discharged by them? A No, 

own accord. 

Q You had been employed at this time by the 1S 

as porter? A Yes, sir. 

q Are you married? A No,. sir. 

Q Do you live right in that hotel? A I beg your par8On7 

Q Do you live right in the hotel? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What are your wages there? A $20 a month-. 

Q And board? A Roam and board, yes. 

i2C) and room and board? A Yes, sir, and rOom apfd 

board. 

fl ow, assuminc this --I show you this little sketch, 

look at tat; assuninr, this to he the corridor as indicated 94 
- 



the sketch,. and this tobe the aisle at inacAk 

and this to be the last two toilets at the Ieft.,t 

aisle, is that a fairly accurate reproduction 

that aisle and the toilet in whi.h you wp ou 

ant Chard and this man Daily? A Well, Y 

are other toilets here. 

Q *Wes, I have not filled those .in? 

BY MR. 7',NISH: 

Q1 The last two are all he asks about? A The lett 

yes. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q I just want to get the last two tilvtlets- lArg 

are on .your sketch, is that so, that is a fairly-4c 

sketch, is it? A Yes. 

MR. CAMMELL: I offr this in evidence. 

No objection. (Marked Defendant's .Exhibit A). 

THE COURT: The object, 1 take it, is to illustrate 

the testimony? 

MR. CAMPBELL: Yes, sir, that is all. 

RI Where did you say that you were when you first saw 

the defendant Chard on the night of March 11, what part of 

this toilet? A Immediately in front of the door here, lead-

ing into this toilet (indicating). 

0. All right. Lake a letter "A". 

(Witness indicates). 



11. 

Q At the time that you first saw Chat. 

A Immediately behind Mr. Sweat, who was in fro  

Q, In th e same corridor? A YeS, 

Q, Put a "D" where Duffy was and ''S" vdiere-

A (Witness indicates). 

Q, Now, hold. it up so that we can see it,  

A "D", "S", "A", and this was myself. (indicating.):. 

Now, before you saw the •defendant Chard you had se 

Duffy, you say, on the top of the partition? A 'Yet, ti 

Q Describe how Duffy was placed on the top of that pa 

tion? A He was hold on like that with his. hands 

ing). He'had climbed .up to the top of the patititi• b 

holding on. 

Vtras he holding himself up there by forca,of his 

or was he standing, on something, or couldn't you se 

A Standing on a toilet paper machine and holding himself up 

with his elbows more like that (indicating). 

ill you put the letters "T. P." -on the toilet in 

Which the toilet paper machine was on which Duffy vias standing? 

Hold it up so that we can see? - A (Witness indicates), 

Q, Duffy was sup-oorting himself partly by that toilet pap 

machine, and had his hands on the partition between the tit* toiZ 

A On this partition (indicating). 

Just piake two little "x' s" 'where he had. his WAS ? 

(Vritraess indicates). 



Hold the paper up, please? A (The witneiS 

Q Now, will you take or will you Show on Chid diagram 

• People's Exhibit 1 *here you stood when you saw Duffy 

position? A altness indicating)  Ri ht there. 

Q "Lin ih a circle indicates the position? • Zed. 

Q Where you stood at the tiMe you saw Duffy hanging ovdr 

this partition? A Yes sir. 

cl How much of Duffy' s body could you see as you stood at 

that spot? A From his waist up. 

Q You are sure you could See from his waist 

in that position? A Well from about here, 

(illustrating). 

Q There were other partitions and toilets all along 

tween you and DufZr, weren't there? A Yes sir. 

Q And these toilets are higher than a, man's head aren't 

they I the tops of them? A Yes. 

Q How many toilets higher than a man's head were between 

you and Duffy when you saw him, as you say, from his 'waist up? 

A Three. 

Q Three toilets? A Yes. 

Q You stood out in the main corridor, didn't you? 'A Yes, 

sir. 

Q What is the distance in inches between the top of the 

partition of Which you say Duffy had hold with his lands, what 

is the distance in inches between the top of that partition. 



and the ceilin A 1L5. 

Dp5 inches? A Yes, sir. 

Duffy did not have his head over t 

A Yes, sir. 

0, He had his head over the partition? 

Q Now, Where was Duffy' s,.ead indicating 0 

Exhibit A where Duffy's head was, face a* 

the partition? A That nark will' I put 

Q Put on "D. H." for the place where Iftiffy s hea 

A (Witness indicates). 

Right there? ts_ YeS. 

Q Then, his head was on the same side of the pa 

on which he stood? A Yes, sir, of course. 

Q Now, than, indicate on Defendant's iibit A. where 

the flush box is in the partitions? A On this parti0uiar 

partition where Duffy was?' 

Q Yes, and on the othEw partitions locate the fill& boX 

on all these four toilets? A (Witness indicates by tT. 15,1)' 

Q Now, the flusb box extends up higher thaathe dividing 

partition, doesn't it? A Yes. 

(), YOWhir,11 is the flush box, how deep? A Ten inches. 

0, Ten incheslso that betwem the flush box and the ceil-

inc there is on y a distance, the top of the flush box, and the 

is only a distance of approximately 5 inches? A Yes, 

sir. 



....kowat.4ilftkik-,ttk#A014001KtOW5.....t, 

The toilet paper machine was where that ink i Ja se 

o the side of the toilet there isn't it  A Yes,-

Q, With the 'T. P." inside the little square? A ee 

sir. 

Q Now, is this partition between the partition whic 

runs along at the .backs of the toilets, is that higher blia 

the partitions between the toilets along the aisle? 

sir; it is. 

A Y 

Q, How much higher? . A ..3or 4 inches. 

Q, Now, it is impossible for a man standing in any. One 

of these toilets to see over the partition into the next, 

toilet, is it not? A Oh, yes ,impossible. 

Q As you enter the toilet itself from the aiS1 

there a step up? A Yes. 

Q, And also a step as you go from the corridOr into the 

aisle? A No, sir, frail the aisle into the toilet? 

Q, From the main corridor as you turn into the els 

is there one step up? A Yes, one step up. 

Q, And then, as youlturn from the aisle again into It 

toilet, there is another step up? A No, sir, there is n 

step up there. 

Q, They are on the same level with the aisle? A They' 

are on the level with the aisle. 

Q Now, the doors in these toilets are wooden doors, aratist 

they? A Yes. 



There is no fastening on them, no lockl A10 

Q They swing? A They swing. 

Q, There are Slats aren't there, in the doors? A 

BY THE COURT: 

Q No bars to lock them? A No bars to lock them 210. 

BY rn. CAMPBELL: 

Q The bottom of that swinging door is about 2 feet high 

from the floor, is it not? A Yes sir, more than 2 feet. 

Q, And the door itself is about between. 4 and 5 feet wiiIej 

isn't it, just the door part? The door that swings, the 

door itself, is not that from the bottom to the top of it about 

between 4 and 5 feet? A Yes. 

Q So that the top of that door is from 6 to 7 feet higla , 

from the floor? A 6 to 7 feet high from the florae O. 

Q Yes, the top of the door going into the toilet? ,A1Mst 

sir, it is not. 

Q, Well, then, where ar6 your measurements incorrect? 

A The top of the door is about 5 feet 6 inches from the floor, 

fron the floor of the aisle. 

q Can you stand in that aisle and look right over the top 

of the door into ary toilet? A Yes, sir. 

0 It wao not, however, until you opened the door in which 

you saw man Daily, was it, that you saw that you have described 

Daily's doing? A No, sir; not until I opened the door? 

0, You could .lot see it until you opened the door, could 

- - - 



"you? . A I could not see as far as he wasdown 

How tall are, You? A 5 feet 11, between 

And couldn't you , if that door, the top 0 

5 feet 6 in  oouldnyt you walk right Up t o that do0 

right over the tpp and see everything that haPPand4 irk 1 

A Yes, hut I would want to crane my neck 

Q Couldn't you, couldn't you? could to 

Q What is to prevent it,your desire not to orate. 0 r 

neck? A No, but I-aAiinot tall elough, in the fira Oia0 

Q That i8 the best answer you can give to that qebLo 

A You ask MB if I can see into the toilet standing 

.(1 I am asking you if the top of that toilet lisf 

only 5 feet 6 inches from the floor of the aisle, mt.00,021, it 

is not posoible for you witliout opening the door to  walkup  

to and look in there and see everything thatis inaide that 

toilet? A It may he. I never tried it. 

q You did not try it that night? A No, sir, I did 

Q Now, after you were in there and saw Duffy with his 

hands on the partition, you went 'back into the main part of the 

hotel to get Mr. Sweet? A Yes, sir. 

q How long w re you gone? A. About half a minute. 

Q How long had.7on been in the toilet before you SMNI 

Duffy on t:le partition? A Ten, seconds. 



Q, How long before you saw Duffy orr 

seen him elsewhere? A•Half•an hour, T sho 

Q, You and Duffy did not 

night, did you? A NO, sir. 

Q, What were you doing that night 

n that toilet 

what work iete 

ing? A I was employed at the main entrance the ho 

Q And you left -- your duties require you to Ile 

main entrance, out front? A No, sir, not exactly. itlYthz 

require me to be in any part Of the house at any, time. 

Q But that part icular night you were employed out fror,i 

weren't you? A On the front of the house 

I am to be found when I am not employed elsewhere. 

Q, Flowlong were you gone •after. Mr. A Mo y rrOl 

between the time I left --? 

Q, After you saw Duffy on the partition? a 132inu 

Q, And did you preced or did Mr. Sweat precede you into 

the toilet? A I preceded him slightly. 

Q, And you went right around to the front of the toile 

in which these men were found? A No, , sir., we did not. 

0, Where did. you go? A We stood where I had. stood the 

first time I saw Duffy. 

Q, How long did. you stand there? A Possibly halt 
min.ut e. 

And then, aft r Duffy made a signal of some kind Or itb.. 

ti on, you went around in the front o f the toilet here (inclio: 

A Yes, 3ir. 



Was it that openedt 

A I did. 

Q Daily was sitting on the sea 

was crouching. is body merely touched the se 

sit t ing on it . 

Q, How high from the floor is the. hole betwe 

itions? A That high (indicating). 

Q, And at that time when you opened the door, did,. you 

open it inward or outward? 

it to me. 

Q PU11e d it t 0 you/ - 

A Like that (indicating)4 pulled 

A Yes. 

Q And Daily had his face pushed right.'olose 

hole, did he?. A well.) there was a space: 'f dbout s, 

should say. 

Just indicate now on, thia diagram Dsily, M*1 

the end toilet, wasn't he, Where T *rite naily":7-

q And Chard was in the toilet next to hill* 

Indicate Were the hole is there in tbat? 
the partition. 

up. 

Yes? A It is about the centre, 

That is the 7aole right there (indicating)? 

',low, how far away from the partition 

Que st ion withdrawn). 

ow, indf ca te just e)n.tc tly, where you _stood bon S'a 

saw ,aily wit' s :'ace at the hole with the letter "V"? 

Fr, 



Witness indicates). 

Indicating by the letter "V" in A '-circI 

from the hole did Daily have his face -at that 

inch, an inch and a quarter. 

Q An inch or an Inch and a quarter away frOM 

A Yes. 

Q, And you could plainly see 

hole? A Yes, sir, plainly. 

Q, You could? A Yes. 

Q What did. you do when you opened that 

take hold of Daily? A The first thing 

0, Not what you said; what 

out of there. 

BY THE COURT: 

Pulled whom out? A Daily. 

BY CANPBELL: 

Q Pulled Daily out? A Yes. 

Q Where did you pull him to, right out in the aiSle? 

A Into the doorway. 

Q Did you leave him then in the doorway?. A Yes, I kept 

my hand op. him and stood there with him. 

Q Up to this time, the door of Chard's toilet had not been 

opened? A Yes, sir; it had. 

Q Did you see that opened? A Yes. 

•Q When was Chard's doorway opened? A Simultaneously With 

nine nnewld, at the same time. 

a penis sticking thrOugh t 



7--

u opened Chard's doorway? A Mr 

(1 You did not see What happened in Chard'S 

Sweet opened the door, did y A Yes, sir. 

Q Although you were enggged in hauling Da 

toilet you were able see what was happenin 

were you, at the same time? A Well, I did not haul Da 

'out. I did not punnoe on him the moment 1 openad.the door. 

I waited to take a good view of things. 

How long did you wait taking that view of things 

A ..About a minute 

Q You stood there and.watOhed that a minute with.the I:10ga" 

opened before you took hold of Daily? 'A: Well, Soth4t 

less. than a minute. 

Q How much less? Did you wait. ten seconds befOre.' tODX 

hold of Daily? A Yes, I did. 

Ten seconds? A Yes, sir. 

Wh0: did you say opened Chard's door? A Mr. Sweet. 

() Did you pull Daily out before or after Mr. Sweet went 

into Chard's toilet? A MT. Sweet did not go Into Chard's 

C.go toilet: He opened the door of Chard(s toilet. 

Q At the same time that you opened your door? A Yes, 

sir, at the same time. 

Q Now, *Lich way does the door swig of these toilets? 

A To the rijht. 

‘, 



i.-1,17!Vm'-,?t-tiz;',Akik........- • . - 

•q Now, I refer to Daily's toilet 

. Daily's toilet, here this door swings et 

swing around this way (indicating)?? 

,toilet, here is the handle, and it swings this 

0, Swings around towards the left from 

A 7rom left to right. 

Q In the direction that that arrow i0 poin 

ing)? A In the direction of the arrow. 

HR. CAMPBfthL: You understand that, 

jury? Pron left to .right. 

Q, The hinge is on the right hand -side of the.dooe 

A The hinge is on the right hand side" of 

into the toilet. 

BY HH. McNISU: 

Q The right band side faciAg the toilet? 

enter the toilet the hinge i6On the right 

BY MR. C,4A3a)BELL: 

Q Now, when you opened this door, Sweet sittaitaneeutitt 

opened Chard's door? A Yes., air. 

0,, And you stood Where you have indicated? 

'Stand 441, fr 

Q And you looked right into that toilet? A Tess ssi 

Jas it after Daily was pulled, out into the hail or151-

fore, that you say you had this convertation with Chard? 

A After he was nulled out in the hall. 

q 1:ad Sweet gone at that time? A No, sir. 
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Q Sweet heard Chard make this Sta 

was within -hearing distance? A Well., 

distance. 

Q How many feet away was Sweet when Chard 

ment? A Away from Chard? 

Q Yes? A Four or five. 

Q, And how many feetawaytram Chard was Du 

made this statement? A A similar distance, four 

Q, Now, just what was it again tia.t Chard 

said, " my God, man, this is the first time I have 

caught at anything like this..'! 

Q Yes? A And T said "You can tell t'llat, 

else; it is none of my businesEi." 

Q, Now, you testified in the Police Court, di 

A Yes; sir. 

Q You were asked there, meren t 

conversation with Chard? 

31R. ::cNISg: I object to the question and the 14)=2 

of it. 

THE 'OURT: I will take the question. 

Q, Weren't you? A Yes, sir.; I was asked 

(I Did you give that convereation anywhere in your teiStimP 

in the Police Court? A I can't remember._ 

'27cNISH: .Objected to. 

THE COURT: Have you the testimony? Yolr 



,r=on-AwielpifitfUesstfOliti*. 

refer to it. 

By THE COURT: 

Q If you have any recollection, you matt anOwt 

cannot say truthfully Whether I did or no 

BY R. CAMPBELL: 

Q Don't you know as a mattei—of'fact„ 

Chair, that you did not say anything like that in the Police. 

Court? A I do not. If I knew that I wOuld say So. 

Q Now, have you told all the conversation that you had 

with Chard i.,rhen you had hinr 

as I can recollect. 

Q Did you tell Chard that he could.get 20 year lin 

A No, sir; I did not. 

Q, You did not say anything like that? A No, sir2' 

0, Did youtell Chard that he could fix this thing up with a 

,20 note? A No, sir; I did not. 

Q You are sure about that? A Absolutely positive, no. 

Q, You say that sonetime after the statements by Chard, and 

when Chard and Daily stood out in the corridor, somebody came 

up, Mr. Thomas, was it? A Yr. Thomas, 

And ITr. Thome asked you Whether you thought it would 

be advisable to send for an officer, did he? A No, sir, he 

did not. Mr. Sweat asked me if I thought it would be advis.-

able. 

out in the hail? A As much of it 

Advisable to send for an, officer? A Yee. 

a 



And You told him you thauelt 

I did. 

Is it not a fact that there have 

in that hotel within a. cOmparat vely short. t 

been found in these toilets and you have beer. 

question, and you have isaid it was not adviOa 

policeman? A No, sir; I have not 'been as* 

kind. 

Q, How many men have been detected in th000 

had been detected within a period of say a month previous 

time when you claim you caught Chard in that act, who were not 

arrested and taken to court? 

TgR. MbNISH: Objected to 

and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: How is it relevant, counsel? 

MR. CAMPBELL: Tt shavs motive, and it goes to the 

truth of what we are going to claim in this case that . 

this was an attempted hold-up on the part of this witness. 

I want to show that they claim up there that they had ar-

rested or caught 25 or 30 men, and that not one of them 

has ever 13.)en brought into court. 

THE COURT: What differencewould that make with refer-

ence to this accusation and this charge? If they had been 

neElectful and negli7,ent and had not performed their duty 

in other cases, what relevancy would it have to this see0ISAP 
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,iasasaft, 

tion? 

MR. GAMMELL-: In this accusiitt*ob4 

tion Which we -shall allege in whiCh: 

the defendant Chard could fix this thin, 

of the res gestae. •Now, then,if these 

fixed for $201 or less or.More than t201 

truth or falsity of this accusation. 

•THE COURT: The objection will be sustained. 

MR. CANPBELL: I take an exception. / 

the.question, then, _in another form. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

How many men have been detected in that 

a period of four weeks prior to the time that Char4440 

out of that toilet, engaged in the same practice 'With oil pa, 

Chard was engaged in that night? 

Objected to. Objection sustained. Exceptien4 

You say you opened otie of the doors and $weer Opened 

the other? A Yes, sir. 

A Do you remember being asked this question in your eXaMo*. 

ination in the police court: "Did you open both the two &MVO? 

A Simultaneously." Vere you asked that question and did you 

give that answer? A 110, sir, I may havebeen asked were 

both doors opened, and how ranch space intervened between the 

opening of one door and the opening of another. 

'Ter' you asked this question: "0,, at did you do? 
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A I stood there at tge corridor; the toilet 4s 

• 

stood at the corridor and. Duffy motioned to me. 

doors." Did you give ay such testimony as that in 

Court? A Yes, sir, I did. ' 

q Then the next question and the next answer: "Did you, 

open both the two doors? A Simultaneously." A I don't 

remember saying that I opened both doors. 

Q You can read this testimony and, refredh your recellec., 

tion, if you like? 

THE COURT: . No, no. He need not.. ..Youmayak him 

any questions you think proper. 

Q, What is your answer to that? 4 

saying that I opened both doors. 

Q As a matter of fact, you did not open 

you? A No. 

I don't remember 

Q, When you opened the doors, or w.hen the dotirs were opened, 

whichever it is , at the same time, that you 'say 

MR. McNISH: I abject to the form of the  question. 

We have the evilence as to how it was. 

THE COURT: Go on with your: question. 

os, When you saw Daily in the position youhave described, 

with his face to the bole, could you at that mite time sew the 

defendant Chard? A Yes.. 

Q You could see both sides of that partition? , A Tex. 

Just tell us how you could se'?. both sides of that parti-
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tion? A I swung the door like that (1.1.34s 

at arm's length, and stood back, ana I inten 

Q, 

:Referring -to the door of Daily's roam 

Yes? A And stood .back at arm's leng. 

in such a way that the door  -of the other toilet 43.7 

between me and this defendant. 

You stood when you opened the door, you to 

you have indicated this to be? A Yes. 

Q And you could see the other defendant in this  oilet 

When you stood there, with this door opened arL, the dot of 

Chard's toilet open, could you? A re 

Q, Where did you see Chard standing when 704 S 

position?, A Standing with. his 'storWmflo: preasetiv against 

the partition, between his toilet an  Daily s. 

Q, Right close up he (indicating)? A Yeslright 

Close up there. 

Q Now, then you saw that, did you see over this door, Or 

through the wooden partition, or see around the corner? A X , 

saw around the corner. 

You could see around this corner? A I could see 

around that corner. 

Q Over the top of the door or through it? A The door 
was standing like that, in front of me; I was holding my own 

door at arm's length, like that (illustrating); I looked around 

like that and I could see plainly this man standing with 

3 an d steed 
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s stomach presded against the partition. 

Q And was this door suung clear back 

A Vol not clear back. 

Q Just at the time you saw that, please take 

men and show how far this door was signing out, the deo;?' 

Chard' s room; draw a sLt.lthe nd show the 

tionof Chard's door when you saw what you have told us? 

Witness iindicates) • 

Q How wide is the door from the hinge to the fl'int of it; 

the width of the door? A Two feet. and a, half. 

Q How lottg did this defendant Chart'remain'in that 

tiOn after the door was .opened? A About 30 Seconds. 

Q How long had that hole been between those tvre 

A I don't know. 

Q How long have yeu been porter there? A Three months. 

Q You have been in the toilets frequently , .haven't you? 

A No, I can't say that I have been in the toilets, that is, 

in the differnt compartment s of the toilet. 

Q, There were other holes between the various other toilets 

there, weren't there? 

MoNISH: I object to that as immaterial. 

THE COURT: Overruled. I will take it. 

Q, Weren't there? A Yes, as far as I: -know there were. 

Q, How long had these holes been allowed to 'stay in that 

condition? 



Objected to as immaterial. 

A How long? 

Q Yes? 

BY THE COURT: 

A }low long? 

Q If you know, how long h.th they been t he 

perience and observation? • 

as long as I have been there. 

BY MR. C AIM= : 

Q, Werethey left there to promote bUsiness9: 

Objected to. Objection Sustained. 

Q Did you derive a profit ou: of leaving these holes 

in your partitions? A No,. 

Q, You did not? A Na. 

Q, But after the very first case in which the matter 

was brought to the attention of the head authorities, those 

holes were covered over with tin, weren't they? 

MR. McNISH: Objected to as incompetent, imma-

terial aixl irrelevant. it does not appear when the 

very first case was brought to the attentiono f the author-

ities there. 

EP. CATCPBT<LI: Quest ion withdrawn. 

Q, How soon after the defendant Chard was arrested, were 

the holes covered up, every one of them, with iron or tin? 

A I don't know. I know they have been covered. 

Q, Very shortly, weren't they? A I don't know how short 

ly. 



ç Well, within a day or two? .A Not air 

day or two. 

Q They are: cOvered overflow?: A They are •coVtred, 

now, but that is a mOnth ago, 

(I They were covered over quite a. long time ago, 

they? A No, sir, theY-were not. 

Q Weran't they covered over .two weeks ap? 

far as I know. Nearly two weeks but I should n 

quite two weeks. 

CHARLES DUFF Y, being alled and duly sworn as 

witness on behalf of the People, testified as fOilOviel 

DIRECT 1XA3TTN AT ION BY R. Ma I STri. : 

Q, Duffy, where do you work? A The. Mills }Mel. 

Q, At what numb ar? A 163.Bleecker street,. 

Q, How long have you worked there? A About three months* 

Q Will you raise your voice? Speak SD the last juror 

can hear you? A Three months. 

What is your position there? A As porter. 

Q And has it been porter all the time you have been there? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Has that bean your position? A Yes, sir. 

Q You worked. under John Leslie? A I worked under Mr. 

3.1CArdle ; he is m an ager there. 

Q, John Leslie Wao also a porter there? A Yes, sir. 



scZa 

I. 

Do you know this defendant 

him, I saw him down at the mills Hotel, that 

Well, did you &ter see this defendan 

know, until the lath of march?. A No sir, 

Q, What you know about him has all been gait, 

time? You were. never personally acquaihted. W,ith 

A No, sir. 

Q, When on t be 11th of March did you firs& See this 

fendant , what time of day? A It was about ten minut ea t 

Q, In that evening? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, And :where was the defendant v6.0n: you firs 

A He was in the toilet in  the Mills Hotel. 

Q. And which, .or what part of the toilet was 1710 

was in one of the booth: 

(1 He was in one of the booths in the toast': 

sir. 

What, if anything, attracted your attettit 

defendant? A I had noticed one man sitting 

while. I came back later and. I found two met it there 

then I had noticed them whispering to each other! 

IT. CAI/FELL: 

0, ?Tait a minute. Who were the men whispering to ea 

other? _Ras b1i cl,fenclant one of them? A I coat,. nd 

as to that. 

Y.P.."E  : Than I nave to strike out this tit 
14 
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notas  related to this defendant. 

(Continuing): I was looking from th 

THE COURT: It does not affed yo 

It has no bearing as against your ellen 

ER. CAMPBELL: No that is 

it out. 

THE COURT: I will let it stan 

the jury that it does not affect your client. 

1R. OALI I take an exception. 

BY .1,1R. IlbNISH: 

Q Did you find out who the men were that Wore•Wh 

together? A No:, sir, I was On tOp,Oftlle 

could not see their faces at that 

IlOw, on top of what toilet Iffee: yOu? 

of the toilet, inside, the operator. 

Well, I will show you a diagram; 

that diagram dlOws? A Yea, sir. 

This is the urinal there, and this is the walk, and.th*Oe 

are the toilets (indicating)? A Yea, sir. 

Q, Along there? A 'Ms, sir. 

Now, Where were you there? A I was right on top of the 

toilet of the operator. 

q On top of what? A Right on top of the booth of 

the operator, on top. 

Q Who is the oloraton? A Why, it lodked to me like 



Yr. Prank Daily. 

Q Like Daily? A Yes sir. 

Q, well, did you see the deferidari 

I saw -- I could not see their faces. 

Q, Well, you saw a an there didn 

0 Well, did yo a erwiras findr out who 

looking at? A Well, I was noticing Yes, 

wards found out who it was. 

0, Well who was it you were lo oking a . 

at -- when I - I did. not see these men face  

after they got out of the toilet. 

Q, And then you saw this defendant, did Sictii, 

sir. 

Q, And was this defendant inside the tolls 

*hen you saw him? A He was outside. 

Outside of what 'toilet  in reference tO 

were looking over at the top? A Well, I pOtad no 

that. He was out in the aisle. 

Q, 

Q, 

He was in the aisle? A Yes, sir. 

Now, tell us What your position mats in th'WW1. 

A I was right on top of it. 

Q Well, were you looking over the partition? 

q And how were you standing i# thetoilet? A WU, -

was standing on whJl'e the paper it held, and Btand.ingheró 

the par was held_ 
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Q Standing on, where the paper -W4A 

mg on. 

Q And•looking .over to the toiletA

 Yes, sir. 

C What, if anything,. did you see? 

whispering there, and all at once I Isaw one. 

his penis through the hole. Then he pu3.3.ek 

then he stuck it through again arid this other 

his month. 

tolf 

Q1 Did you see anybody else there in the piacer_ 

time' A Ex% Sweet and John Leslie were just T 

me, and I vas mo t ioting to . them. T was 'wait* 

started. They did not start for aWhile, and 

soon 

I 

soon as they started I motioned for them to gb.41;! 

got down and went around and they was out ' in we 4 

time. 

When you got down, you west around in the ..a*S. 

whom did you find in theaisle? A I found this, t tan Od 

other man. 

0, You found this defendant? ' Yeti. 

Q And the otheT man? A Yes.. 

Q, Have you since learned who he was? A Prank PO4 
Q Who else was there? A M. Sweet and John 140.444,:.. 

_BY TH-117 COURT 

Q You did not see either one of their faces 
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4. 
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them outside? A 1q0, 

Q, And you saw two men in the DOS 

scribed?' A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. 31ccNISH: 

Q, Now, before you got up on the 

THE COURT: Gentlemen, you must nOt 

case, nor.form nor express.any opinion 06 

your minds open and free until it is submittt 

I will ask youto be in your placeS_VrOmPt 

o'clock. 

(Recess until two p.m.) 

TRIAL RESULTD.  

CHARLES DUFFY, awitness for the Peo 

the witness-stand. 

DETT EXAMINATIONCONTINUED BY MI. YcNISH: 

(1 Before you got up on the partitionlhad yOU Seen 

fendant? A No, sir. 

Q Had you had any conversation with Leslie?, A teitij 

I told him that I thought --

.T7R. CAMPTITLI: Never mind what you told him 

Q Never mina that, vat you told him; you had-* conersam. 
tion with Leslie? A Yes, sir. 

Q How long before you got up on the partition 
you had the conversation with Leslie? A About fifteen minixtioaa 

Wher•- was it you had the conversation with him? A 
the main floor. 

And after that, you wqnt up directly, did you, -ard 
on this partition? A 7os, sir. 

(After 1100es: 
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CROSS VEAKINATION BY MR. 'CAMPBELL: 

Q Now, When you Went in this toilet, Whefl. 

this partition, you got up on this toilet paper 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And when you saw what you have.deseribed:.t0 

had one foot on this bracket and your hands on ihS to 

partition, is that right ? A Yes sir. 

Q That was the way you held yourself up 

you could see over ? A Yes sir. 

Q Now, the boxes, the water tanks in these partt 

are right in the middle, aren't they, of the toilet,,.a 

top of the toilet? .A Yes, sir.: 

Q, Which side of the water tank did you have 

when you saw what you havedeScribed on this day. iWt-

(indicating) ? A Which side ? 

Q Yes. A I was on this side (indicating). 

Q That is to the left of the t011et in mhiCh you mrere 

A Yes. 

Q, So you put your hands on this side, A Yes, well, 

could see over on both sides, 

Q You could see both sides of this partition? A /*eel 

cl At the time you aid so see, you had one foot on this 

toilet? A Yos, sir. 

Q Of the toilet paper bracket? A Yes, sir. 

Q How tall are you, stand up, please; about how tall are' 
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you? A About five feet, ten inches, something like that 

Q You are not over 5 feet 8, are you? A Zottethin 

Q About 5 feet 8 ? A Yes,.sir. 

Q Do you know the dietance in width 

BY THE. COURT: 

Q (Interposing) Well, WhiCh is it, 5 foot 8 or 

A' 5 feet 8. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

(1 Do you know the distance in inches from thiitoi 

paper bracket to this corner of the toilet at the to of t 

part it ion? A I don't understandyour  question. 

Q, Do you ,know the distance from this toilet paper 

to this .corner of the toilet in *.ich, you Were. at tol'sc, 

the partition? You had to reach slanting .ways, diagonaIl, 

across that toilet, didn't you, to reach that OornOrt 

A Yes, sir. 

Q How many inches is it across there 'A I Om 

understand your question. 

Q You understand that When you were in this toilet. Wit  

one foot on this toilet paper bracket, reaching over? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Aro und this tank? A, Yes. 

4 With your hands on the top of this partition? A 

Q, That you had. to reach diagonally across that to4ett 
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A Yee' sir. 

I wn asking you hor:ii far it is from this t 

bracket over to this corner, of the toilet at  

partition? A Well, it  is about 

q '5 feet, isnl,t it ? A 

nches. 

inches. 

You don't udd4rstand the question. 

from the top of this toilet 'paper bracket OVer tO--t 

the toilet, at the top of the partition isnt it 1: 

Q,, How far is it ? A The height of the toilet 

about 7 feet. 

Q, How great a Uistande would you Call 0.1 

there (indicating) ? Would it surprise you 

it measured 57 inches; between 1 and 2 o0c10031k 

Objected to Objection sustained. 

Is it not 57 inches from the talitoi* th. 

bracket, this corner of the partition) at. 14114 

tion? A I would think it would only beYS;bout 15 fie: 

mean how wide is the booth? 

0. How far is it from that point -- can't 704 

that question? The top of this partition; is how high from 

floor ? A (Vo answer) . 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. He iz askinc 

f 

Mr. Witness, for your judgment on: 

culj L,ct , Givo him our best judgment. A .It is aboUiAT 
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BY R. CAMPBELL: 

Q 7 feet across there ? A No, sir, 7 feet .ft 

the bottom. 

Q Now, how far is it from the top of thls tot 

bracket, from that fixture on Which you stood, bow far is 

in a direct diagonal direction, across to this cornerOf t 

toilet, at the top of that partition? A Well, it is about 

3 feet. 

Q Only three feet ? A Yes sir. 

Q Is it not nearer 5 feet? Isn't it 57 inches? 

A I could not say as to that. 

Q Now then, the back partition of this toilet, inlv 

you were, isn't the back partition of the toilet In which Char4 

was, is it ? A No, sir. 

Q There are two partitions ?, A Yes, sir. 

Q That is the distance between-theSe two partitions, be-

tween the back partition of this t010 and the back partition 

of the toilet in which Chard was ? A Why, I was looking right 

over on top of him. 

Q, Is it not eleven inches from the face of this parti-

tion, this side, at the top, to the face of the partition in 

which Chard was, on the top, 11 Inches across there from one 

partition to the other ? A There is only one partition be-

tween them. 

Q Bltween these two toilets ? A Yes, sir. 

• 



CI Don't you know that there is a spaost:betwe 

of toilets and this row of toilets, and that I:14 

toilets there is 'a space for pipes and there are p: 

through there ? A Yes, sir. 

Q Then you are wrong in saying that there is onl 

Partition, aren't you? There are two partitions th0re 

aren't there ? A No, there is not exactly two partitions 

Q There is one partition comes up the back of one toile, 

Isn't there ? A. Yes. 

Q, Then there is another partition. comes up the back of 

the other toilet? A • Yes. 

Q And there is a space between those two partlti001$ 

A But it is covered at the top. 

Q, How is it covered ? A I don't remember 4010 Whether 

is covered or not. I don't think it is covered. 

Q Well, it is important to you to give OAS as nearly 

right if you can. If you don't remember, please donft tell thia-

jury because this boy's liberty depends on it. Now,. you Were. 

wreong a moment ago when you said there was only one parti#tio.n 

between these toilets, weren't you? A Yes. 

Q, Now, as a matter of fact, there are two? A Yes 

Q And is it not eleven inches from the face 01 thiL par-
tition in this toilet, to the face of the partition in the 

toilet in which Chard was ? A It is about 11 inehes. 

How far is it from, th. top of this toilet, t4ispartitiOp' 



the- back part it i on, o - the ceiling ? 4 

Q 15 inches ? A Yes, sir. 

ing 

(I Now, between the t 

A Yes, sir. 

of this partition 

Q, (Continuing) And midway between 

A Yes, sir.. 

(1, (Continuing) there is an iron pipe runs along tr 

isn't there, a water pipe ? A I could not say as to that. 

Q, Don't you know there is,? A 1. on t remeriber now. 

Q Do you know how you got your head past that iron. Part 

to look down in these toilets ? 

MR. MCNISH: I object to the question. 

Q, Did you get your head past an iron pipe ? 

got my head down there some way. 

Well, tell us how you did it ? How long have you bee* 

a porter there ? 

MR. MC NISH: T et him answer the question. 

Q. All right. A I climed up on the bracket and hung °Ter 

on the partition and my head right down, and looked right down 

at him. 

Looked right down in there ? A Yes. 

Q, Now, when you did that, how did you get by that iron 

pipe ? A I don't romerfb er seeing any iron pipe there. It 

was quite difficult 

Y ou didn't sop an 

the t part.i 

iron pipe ? A It was quite diffir, 



get around there, but I got there, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Is there an iron pipe there ? 

now. that 

How long have you bee. there ? A Alycilit 

Are you there now.? A Yes, Sir* 

Going there from time to time ? A Yea 

Cannot you say whether there is or. therA 

A No, sir; I cannot. 

Q You cannot ? A No, sir. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q, Now, from the position in which you vier44 

Jury to understand that while you had your foot, Yotir 

foot I suppose, was it ? A Yes, sir. 

On the top of this braOket, you reached aottx 

corner of this partition? A,Yes1 sir. 

Q, And looked &Own in: here and 6i1W how tuchr 

body? A Yes, sir. 

q How much of it, all of it '? A Yes, sir; I talt 014 

It. 

Q, And at the same time di& you see Daily's body ? Al 

saw him stoop down. 

Q You saw his body'!' A Yes. 

(4, Stoop down at th,! 1..otto-m of this other toilet OVer 

h11-9 (indicatin A Y.-



sewfigig-.. 

q Do you know the distance betftS210 

tank here over to this tank, the spade, 

tanks (indicating)? A I could not My as 

Q :Do you know how wide these tanks: at 

are about 15 inches long and about 10 inches w 

Q How about 19 inches for the tanks 

MR. MC NISH: I objectto this. 

Q Is it not 14 inches ? 

MR. MC NISHF Just.a moment. The questions 4illidk 

are not part of the cross examina ion I object to, -and Oat; 

is cross-examining him on •hiS- answer. If .counsel as 

questions, he is certainly bound by 

was not asked by the People to give :any dimensions. 

THE COURT: Well, he Is entitled to 4 Wide:lat*tUde' 

in cross-examining, An testing his credibility and knowl-

edge, and his powers of observation, 

Q, It it not 14 inches exactly frOm this tank to the 

of this tank, the space between these water tanks? A Yes sir. 

Q, 14 inches between there ? A Yes, about 1 inche0. 

Q With an iron pipe running along between them? yes. 

Q When did you find out about the Aron pipe, ? Are You 

takinr my word for it no'w ?. A No, sir; I am not taking your 

word. 

Q You remember that it is an iron pipe there now/ A Yee., 

Q, That it is midway between the top of this partition and 
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the ceiling ? A Yes,, sir; r; it is runnin 

Q, Now, I want you 

here, clear across 

yourself it is 11 inches .across between..the part 

you to show us how you did that and reached past --

pipe, and were able to see the whole:of Chard 

in this place next door ? A I.put my foot on the tot 

bracket and I put the other foot on a partition On the other. 

side. It was not a partition, but it was separated from the 

bricks. It was half, it was the end of the toilet and one 

side Was a brick wall and the other side was half of the  

toilet, and I had one foot on that side and my rlghtffOO 

the toilet bracket, and I hung over and looked down. 

Q, Duffy, don't you know that it is a phYsioal„ 

ity for a man to go up or get past that partition in sup 

that he can see any more .than the head of* the ehould00 Of '•4 

standing up in the toilet in Which Chard was ? Now, 

tell the jury 

here to 

that a fact? A No, sir. 

Q It is not a fact? And that is as true. as anything:0: 0 -

you have sworn to here to-day, is it ?  A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, after you saw What you have described in that po. 

sit ion, you got down and went and spoke to Mr. Sweet, didn't 

you ? A I motioned to Kr. Sweet. 

this partition, an 

Q, Did :'ou cat down from there ? A As soon as Mr. Sweet 

w73nt uroui;,1, I 



Q. You got down and went around before the door. 

opened, didn''t you? A 

time when they were coming out. 

Q, You got thereT a.bout the time they were geWiA 

the toilets? A Yes, sir. 

Q You were not up on top Of the partition When the:: 

were opened, were you? A No, sir. 

Q How long before these doors were opened, did you come. 

t there just abo 

down from the top of• the partition? 

MR. MC NISH.: I object to: that. He said he -WaS n 

there when the doors were open0d.-: 

MR. CAMPBELL: Well, I Withdraw thi gUest' 

Q, You say now positively that you were not Up'. the 20n 

top of that -partition when the doors Were. opened b 

around in that aisle? A Yee-, sir. 

You were not there? A No, sir. 

Q, And it was not in pursuance. of any- signal or motion 

given by you then from the top of that partition, that these = 

doors were opened, was it ? A Yes, sir; I gave them a signal. 

Q, It was? A Yes, sir. 

EY TYE COURT: 

Q. Were the men in front of these doors when you got dawn? 

A Yes, sir. 

0, From your position? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And did you wait until the:: frot in front of they doors 
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before you got down? 

Did you or not A I went immeatWi 
got 

q As soon as they to the doors A Ye 
IN 

around there. 

Q Did you before they got to the doors get 

they arrived at those .points wh n 'you left your p0# 

got down? A Yes, sir. 

BY R. CAMPBELL: 

Q, They were then in frOnt 

A Yes, sir. 

q 'Who were in front of th 

Leslie. 

Q, How long had they been 'ih front 

got down? A Well, about 30 seconds. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, How much timeelapsed between hat you  testified YKYik 

observed in that position, and the time When the ,doors wero 

opened by Sweet and Leslie, is it ? 

MR. MC NISH: Sweet and ,Leslie, yes,* sir. 

Q, How much time? A I was hot there when they :opened 

the doors. I just got about around there when they were emit: 

out, buttoning up their clothes. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q, Do you remember testifyinzin the Police Court? 

A Yes, sir. 

Is your recollection about what happened there that 



-iv:-=',rer.HIE4Affikves..4os :zie$4,41A.417t/Letk. 

any clearer than it was When YOu.We, 

so clear? A just about the earn 

Q About the same?, A, 

Q Were you asked this question, and did y.o* 

answert "I see this gentleman pull out h 

Q What did you see him takeout? A Pull out hiS poniv.4 

put it in the other f chow' s mouth. Q, What did 

that? A I went and told Mr. Sweet and he came around an 

opened the door" do you remember giving that aneWer-to_tha 

question in the Police Court? A No, sir. 

Q Was it true if you did give it? A No, sit.: 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did you give any such t itimbny as that? ' A. 

r ememb er giving any such t est imony. 

Q You do not recall giving any such testiliWnyl 

MR. CAMPBFIT'iL: It has be n st1pu1ated4 tf 'yo 

please, between the District .Attorney and myaelf 

this transcript of the minutes which I have reOeiVstit 

correct transcript of the minutes in the Police Court, 

and with your Honor's permission, I will offer that- vor-

tion of the transcript in evidence at this time, befoie 

fore:et it. 

(No ol-j act .io) 

BY R. C!0.11)BIPTA: 

06 (RnAlInn.):11 WI' 01,1 you s2e him take out? A pull 



• 

13 

out his penis andput it in the other 

did you do after that A I went to tell, 

around and we openedthe. door. 

• 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You have no recollection of so testifyln 

Q, And the answer given there does not expresS/ 

A No, sir. 

Q, Does it ? A No, sir. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

q Now then did you open the door? A IT 

Q When the door was opened, what did you set, 

both the men standing up. They were just about-ott 

toilets. The door was open, and they were both,starAdA 

Q, Wereyou standing there when the door wat'0 

A No, sir. 

Q Did you see the door Opened? 

out in the aisle. 

When you got around to this aisle,.Whioh leads to tIke 

toilet in Which Chard and Daily were, just as you started lw 

this aisle, had the doors then been opened or were they evened 

as you startedup the aisle? A I could not say as to that. 

Q, You do not know ? . A No, sir. 

Q But when you got there, you saw Daily standing 04444:-

Chard standing ± up ? A Yoe, sir. 

Q, wa Chard front of the to1l3t, or the side 
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the toilet or what direction was he rao 

as to that. 

Q You could not say ? A No, eir. 

Q Do you remcaiber being asked thiS qneatiOn 

Court, and giving this answer -- this is a oph, 

other testimony: "Q mien you opened the door 

see ? A I aidnot see anything at all., myselfl, 

ter that clue stion and that answer in the Police Court, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Is that the fact? A -No, sir. 

MR. CAMPBELL: I will offer that in eVidSpOS 

it: "Q When you opened the door, What did you A;0e. 

A. I did not see anything at all, myself." 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q Now, Duffy, any one who is dtanding up ththL6.toflet 

can easily see the head and shoulders of any one standing Up 

In the hall, in the aisle, can't they? A Yes. 

Q Either way.; people in the aisle can see the head. and, 

shoulders of a man standing there ? A YeS, sir. 

And the man inside can look right out and see any One 

who 'happens to be standing in front.? A' Yes, sir. 

Q Now, since you gave your testimony in the Police ;out 

have you and Mr. John Clifford 'Leslie talked about Ighatyw. 

testimony was going to be down here ? A, Yes, sir; wá talks4 

something about it. 

;Ct 
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And he made some suggestions to,yous 

A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, What did he suggest to you? 

inches from the top of the toilet to the oei114 

about -- the rest of itlis facts and just ab,oUti 

told here . 

Q He spoke about what you observed fuld What 

is that it ? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did he make any suggestion to you as to W 

testify to here ? A No, sir. 

Q Did you consider different subjects fOr:t 

being in accord about it A NO, sir. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q You did not 'Want to be in accord with 40. 

did you ? 

MR. MC NUH: I object to the question ao 1000 

immaterial and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: I will take it. 

Q Do you understand the question? A Yes, 

What is your answer ? A I want to stand on Ity 

timony. 

Q, You did not want your testimony to' be soles 04 

did you? A No, sir. 

Q Or a.7,ree with his? A No, sir. 
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ieR4v4 Vi41.4  

You did not , Well then, why did you and :h0.4 

what the testimony was going to be here 9 A We: 41 

cuss about the testimony. We just talked about the' 

Q, He suggested to you how far it was from 

partition to the ceiling ? A Yes sir. 

Q, How easily you could look over it from the .part 

or down- into the next toilet? A sir. 

Q He did not make any suggestion like that? 

Q You Work there under him,, don't you 

porter, isn't he A No sir. 

Q Well, he is head bridge-.-man down there., he is superior 

up there to you, isn't he 1, A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, while you stood there in front' of the door, did 

you hear Chard say anything? A No, sir. 

q Chard didnot say anything at all, did h ? A No, siri, 

Q Chard did not say "My God" 

BY THE COURT: 

Q (Interposing) Did you hear Leslie say anything to 

Chard ? A No, sir. 

Q Were you with Leslie ? A Yes, sir. 

Q When Chard was there, all the time? A Yes, sir. 

Q All the time ? A No, sir; I was not with him all the. 

time. I got around there a little it after him. -

W,,11, could you hear .overything that was said ? A No. 
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BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q, Yoii did, not hear everything that via: 

MR. CAMPBELL: I think that is al, 

RE-DIRT EXAMINATION BY 'Ttal. MC NISH: 

Q. Duffy, the testimony that you have given. 

testimony that has been told you to give ?, A 

Q, Have :you told us what you saw ? A Yes, 

Q, Now, at the time that you gave the signal to 

and Leslie, they were standing out in he alleyway, We 

A Yes, sir. 

KR . CAMP315,L: That is objected to as. 341,a;. 

THE COURT: Yes, you may ask him where t-

standing. The obj ect ion to its being leactialg 

You are on the re-direct, now. 

Q. Where were thezr stationed when you gave th-

A They were stationed out in the aisle. 

Q, And. did you or did you not see them again 4r1 

F,ott en down and walked around ? A No, sir. 

Q, You did not see them witil you had gotten doWn a,n 

ed around ,,in front cf this (indicating),? A No sirs 

THOYAS SWEET, being called and duly sworn t3.a 

wit.-iess on 1) fiL.lf of the People, testified ee filllows:` 

DIRECT MgINATION BY MR. MC NISH: 

Q, VThire ra.ro you r:,..n.1).10:47.ed, Mr. Sweet? A The Inal4 
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No. 1, 160 131eecker street. 

Q at is your position in the 

Superintendent. 

Q How long have you been Assistant SUperin 

have been Assistant Superintendent since twelve mon 

October. I have worked for the Hotel as clerk 

since it started. 

Q You have been 'emTloyed by th hotel as clerk :!.n 

started ? A Yes, sir. 

Q And on the 11th of March, 1908 . you were ass10011 

superintendent? A Yes, sir.% 

Q Did you on that day', thellth of yard. 

tendant? A I did. 

Q Was he in the hot elwhen yoU saw him? 

Q Prior to that time, had You ever seen the W:0* 

A Not to my knowledge. 

Q And where was the defendant„when, you first samr 

A In the public toilets. 
T ' 

Q, And how did you come to be in thepublic toilets tbtit 

time ? A A man named Leslie, he come to the Main offl e t 

head office, and told me he wanted me 

R. CAMPBELL: I ollject to what he told hint, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You spoke to Lesli) and then you went with liAra 
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BY MR. 'MC NISH: 

Q, Leslie came and, spoketo you abottt-W 

or night A A few minutes before 99.ó 

Q, And. immediately after the conversatiat 

and Leslie went to the toilet 'together? A 

Q, You went into what part of the toilet 

toilet, it When we got inside 

Duffy, he climbed up the partition and WaS lookih 

went in. He beckoned us with his hand to keep `bie 

it might have been a second, it might have been 19,6.0-.0 

half, when he went like that (illustrating) for U. 

ward. We rushed around and swung the doors 

man --

Q, Whose door did. you open? A What.? 

Q Which door did you open? A I caught hold 

farthest from the wall; 

Q, Who was inside, if anybody? A Chard, 

Q, This defendant? A Yes, he was inside that orie3' 

Q, When you first went in the public toilet, where 

Duffy? A Duffy? 

Q, Yes. A Climbed up the partition in the back, 

over into the two where these men were. 

Q Is there sufficient room between the ceiling and Ow top 

of that partition for a, person to look over? A Oh, yea) 

y3s. 
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q Now, tell us when you opned.the..door of 

saw the defendant, what, if anything, you saw? 

first door was opened, the man Daily, he got his penis 

Q Now, you opened the defendant's door, •diOom. 

Q Tell us what you saw when you opened the defendalk, 

door ? A He turned around from the partition, and. as:he t 

ed around from the partition, his petit Was out, and tke—see&f 

was actually running from him. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What is that ? A The seed was actually running f adt, 

him, as he pulled his penis from the hole in the partttl..01/-,; 

BY MR. MC NISH: 

Q Did he haVe an erection at that time 7 A Certain' 

Q And the semen was,ejected? .kYes4 that is right-. 

Q And what else, if anything, didyou see ? Did you 
• 

in the next toilet? A The one Where Daily was -- because 

that was already opened, that door had been thrown open exactly 

as we had thrown that one, and he jumped up, Daily 'did., 

Q What, if anything, didyou see Daily doing? A Well, 

when we first opened the door, he got the 'other man's penis 

through the hole right in his mouth. 

Q Did you have any convereation with this defendant ? 

A No, I did not, °nil calling him dirty animal's and that 

sort of thin, for his conduct. 

Q Did the defendant sEt:: anything at that time?. A Be made 



no defense, either of them. 

MR. CAMPBELL: Te is not answerin 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q Did he say anything ? A. No, he didn' 

all When we accused him. 

BY MR. MC NISH: 

Q What did you do then? •A I arent-for a policean. 

I went to call Mr. Thomas, the head man, the Snperintendeht*. 

Q And when you went to call Mr. Thomas, the defehdant 

and Daily were there with whom? A, Yes, they were 'guard:4..11g 

them, keeping them close where they Were at the toilet, not  

let them out. 

Q, 

4, 

Who was guarding them? A 3:tufty and Leeli 

Duffy and Leslie were guarding the defendant an4PailY2—

A Yes, sir. 

,And then they were put under arrest A Yes) 01,4 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY la. CAMPBELL: 

Q, How long have you known.Mr. Leslie, Sweet? A Polar or 

five months, perll.ap,!:about that. I wouldn't say; it is a sliort. 

time, not very lonfr. 

Q Did you know him befare he came to the hotel? A Not 

ne ver knew him before. 

Q. 

Only since he came there? A Yes. 

And you at the time you received this signal fift Duf 

were you in t rndn corridor or in the aisle, immediately In 



4 
4,4-4=.41,44r444,, 

front of Chard, toilet, A In then 

row, ,where Chard was, *as that r6w, and Te.:11,4. 

watching the head of, Duffy (illustratin)c 

q Mr. Sweet, this is a sk tChWhich was in 

Now, where was Duffy ?This., is supposed., I 

according to this sketch this is the toilet in W 

and this is the toilet in which Daily was; now, w 

Duffy A In this one here, at the back. 

Q, Mere the cross is ? A Yee looking 

Q Mkooking crier? A Y s. 

Q, Wher e were you. when yoi received 

in pursuance of which you opened the doors ? A -Her:e 

Q. Around here in the corridor ? A Here, rt 

corner, so as we could see him; we Could see hit4 

dicating). 

Q, And then, when. you got the signal to open 11151:40.0: 

left this position here ? A .Yes. 

Q And went around here ? A. That is it., 

Q, So that you received no signal whatever from Duffy to: 

ooen t1-7e (ours while you were in this aisle in front ofehard 

and 1-)aily's place 9 A Oh, no, sir. 

Q, 

fiv,? 

Not at all? A There vAs not tiriel there was no 

No'‘,7 3 to  of th,, door to this toilet is only about 

fro n floor, it not.? A It is about that; the 

-) • 



I am talking- about the top? A, 

believe that's about five feet. 

If you, rushed Up this aisle,. you u .00104, 

over and see everything going on. n ther ? A• 

the man's knees and could see his head. 

Q You would not have to open this door u-Otdis$7-

what was going on there, if you:looked over? ICW6111.1 

would not have caught them in the act, as We did, 

over, because they would have seen us. 

Do you mean to say that if you had rushed into this 

aisle and looked over the: toilet n this way (in:dizatpa 

that you could not have seen everything going on t 

the same ? A We could have hut the other Way was the  

quickest'. 

Q It was quicker to take this door and Open it, 

was to look over 2 A It was. 

Q Now, at the time that you got the door open yoUH44y. 

just at the instant that the door Was opened., Chard Was turning 

away, and the semen was flowing from his penis? A Yes,sirs 

Q At the time the door was opened, 'he had drawn his pen 

from Daily's mouth? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

(I Did you see that 2 A Yes. 

Q Did nu see the withdrawal? A Yes, sir. 

Q You saw the withdrawal from Daily's mouth, of'hie 
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penis ? A Y I-did, 

BY TR, AMPBSTA:L: 

Q A moment ago,, in answer to My question 

whether at the tiMe the door was Opened, Chard had wit 

his penis from Daily's mouth, and you saw the semen then: 

.ning out and you said yes 1 A That's right. 

Q Is that right? A Yes. 

" 

Q. So that he had withdrawn his penis before the door was 

opened, hadn't he ? A Certainly, *hen the door was open -di h 

jumped on -the instant, and so did the-Oth r man. 

Q Daily's door Was opened first a, A Yes) thgtts 

Q, So that before Charde'doOrilvat opened, *CW 

jumped away, and his penis was eXposedi, and the e,emila vrio 

running from it ? A You mean:thardWas,tUrned 

Q Yes. A Chard had turned, y'ee. 

So that you did not see the Withdrawal, of Chard's pent  

fro Daily's mouth, because Daily' S door had been 00enettfirett 

and Chard had received the warning and had Jumped baoll is that 

right? A I did see it, because it was in his mouth. The 

partition is  only half an inch thick, wood. - 

Q I know, but you did not see Chard's penis in Dailv0 

mouth, dirl you? A Certainly I did. 

Thrm, you actually saw the withdrawal, did:you? 

A Say the door is on the hinge --

Q (InterruptinF) Just please answer my question. You 
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actually saw the 

Q, You say Daily's door was opened first? A Yes'..: 

Q And notwithstanding that 'fact, Chard kept his pets 

Daily's mouth until Chard's door was opened? A No. No sooner 

than Daily's door was thrown open n the act, 

and Chard's was in his mouth, no sooner than the doer MEI thrown• - 

open, of course the two jumped, the other door was thrown, you 

See, one side like 'that (illustrating), and as he turned, 

there was the semen running from him. 

Q, Did. you testify to. that fact in the Police Court 

A I certa,i •ly did, oh, yes. 

Q, I show you the stenographer's minutes, and ask you to 

}AR. MC NISH: Objected to. 

THE COURT: No, no, do not do that. at-

tention to anythAng you may think proper. 

CAMPBBILL: Your Honor, I cannot direct his atten-

tion to something that is not there. 

THE COURT: Well, the question may not have b,een ask-

ed  HD would ot be responsible if tl'eT were not 

see the defendant Daily when he took Chard's 

p%ini,4, in -louth? 
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Q You saw that yourself A Yes, sr' A'! dial 

yes -Sir. 

Q, 
right. 

But you did not see him take it ? Olin 

q Then that testimony that lut you gave in the Police 

Court is incorrect ? 

MR. ATO NISH: I object to that question. 

MR. CAMPBELL: I will withdraw it, if you object. 

Now, Mr. Sweet, how much of Duffy body could yOu See 

when you stood here in this corridor .looking at 'Duffy-- 

A Yes. 

q (Continuing) Who was in this toilet; how 'much 

Duffy's body could you see ? A Well, I guess about to here 

(indicating). 

Down to his shoulders ? A 'Yes, about that.. 

Q, You do not know then how he held himself up to that 

sition? You could not see how he held himself uP there ? 

A I could not say. I don't know; I was not near enough to 

see that. 

Q, Well, the door was closed in the toilet? A Yes. 

Q, So that you could not see how he maintained his posi—

tion up there on top? A No, I couldn't see. I know how they 

do naintain t'flat nosh-ion, but I did not see him. 

Q Well, there are two partitions along there, aren't 

on3 j rtitu4 Litth,J back of this toil t, and another 

po.'" 



that (indidating) . 

Q That far apart? A Yes, ,justabout, not qUite the 

Q And. is. there any iron pipe running along between. the 

water or flush tanks A There is an iron pipe runs right 

along to supply the flush tanks. 

About half Way between the top of the partition and the 

ceiling? A I think they run close to the little flush box 

Q They are nine inches: above the top o the partttIon,: 

the ion pipe, isn't it ? A I have not sized that up tacaet17* 

it occupies that space ? A The fluih boxes 

rest upon the top of the partitions. 

Q, Yes, and. they fill up practically the entire spate., 

don't they, between the pArtItion and the top? , A013. no, 

because as I say, that is about the width of the to1let-4 and 

the flush boxes are only about that length (indicating). 

Q, Nov, you say the bottom of the tanks rest on the to 

about the 1,3ngth of than. (indicating)-. 
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(indicating). 

Q 0 inche 't it, exactly? A Well 

measured them exactly. Th 

is. 

4a. are the ordinary sized tO 

Q The didance between the tank of this toilet here an 

the tank of the toilet next to. it a 14 inches, isn't it ? 

A I should bay, I should think .it trust be a bit more than that 

shouldthink. I have never measured it 

Q Oh, you would not be sure of it ? A Nal I woUld.not be 

positive of it.' 

Q But it is between these tanks and between the t01) 0 

the partition and the ceilingthat this pipe  rune,isn't it 

A Well, I don't know. Ican't tell you' exactly the position of 

those pipes. I have not looked.. 

.Now, Mr. Sweet, do you recall asking the 'witneAS Leslie 

whether he thought you had better send for 6 police :offi0ort ' 

A What? 

Q Do you recall asking the witness Iieslie whether he. 

thought you had better send for a police Offic.er Al directed , 

himself to do that. 

Q He says you asked hin whether you had better send for an 

office or not; did you ask him? A I told him to go andget 

a policeman, and when I told him to get a policeman, thenn-I 

went and fetchedthe superintendent .myself. 

Q Didn't you ask him whether he thought you had better 



iceman? A 

My int ent ion was to have them locie4 

a polio eman. 

Q How long had. these holes been in the'  

for years. We put pieces of -wood over them. 117. AIM 

put sheet :iron over them. 

Q, The holes had been there in the toilet forat least 

three months :before this occurrence, hadn't they lk.);) 

seven years, off and on.. 

B.Y THE COURT: 

Q, You mean this particular hole 

MR. CAMPBELL; Yes. 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

Q, This particular hole ? A I would not say that. 

Q, And other holes around ? A Yes, *there has-been other" 

holes. 

Q, And. these holes had been all repaired after Char&, ,was 

arrested ? A Only coverings put on them, not new panels. 

Q, Oh no, but they have been all covered up? A, They 

have been all covered up, yes. 

Q,. And. when this door was opened and Chard was. eXpos_ed. 

you, Chard did not say anything, did he ? A Not in Ably 704 

I left to go and feterh.6.-

Q, YOU. were there when the door was Opened ? 



(Continuing) N t in my presence. 

the superintrident. 

Q But you 'were there when the door Watv 

A Ye 4 sir. 

(1 You opened it ? A Yes, sir. 

RE-DIRECT ]X.AMINATION BY MR. MC NISH: 

Q Now, Mr. Sweet, what is the width of that parti 

that runs down through the middle of these toilete 

A The width of it ? 

q Yes, this middle partition between the two toilpte 

that way (indicating)? A They are all the same a 

around. 

(I Well, what is it, about what ? Alt might 10e4 

frame would be a bit thicker than the top of that tabI 

cating), end then there are thin wooden lengths. 

Q Do you understand my question? A Because there is a 

wooden frame around it. 

Q Just a moment. That represents the toilet in *bleb 

Daily was (indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And this representst the to  in Which Chard 

(indicating)? A Yes. 

Q And this represents the tbilet in which Durfy, 

(indicating)? A Ye,s. 

q Now, between the toilet in which Duffy was and the 

toilet in which this def ldant was, there is a partition :18A 
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there A Oh yes, there is a partition. 

Q Wow, how wide is that partition" 

and a half inches. 

Q Two and a half inches wide ? A It ml 

half or it might be three. I wouldn't say. 

partition. 

Q It is just the thicknesa of the wood, 

A Well , there is a thick piece like at the tO 

is thinner lower down. 

Q Raise your toice, please, A There is a thicIA 

wood at the top, might he about three inches wItIe. 

the rest of it lower down is thinner wood. 

Q, Well, it is not eleven inches wide, is tt'l 

course not. 

BY THE COURT: 

q Before you opened the door of this closet, °Quid 

see from the position that you were in, what was •goiAg -on 

either one of the closets ? A Only the one that Chard was 

Did you look over and see before you opened the door, . 

'what was going on in Chard's closet, the closet that Chard was 

in? A I did  not look over. Aswe ran up to it, I could see 

his hat. 

Q Did.you see anything ? A I saw his hat. 

Q -(Continuing) Until the door; was opened by you? A I 

did not see qnything roinr, on, no, sir. 
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RE-CROSS gKAMINATION BY MR. EIAMPB214L: 

Now, Mr. Witness, in answer to the.: Digtridt Attorgay_'a.
 

question, he asked you to describe the partition? A 'Tea* 

Q Assuming the position at the back of the'toi16t 

which Duffy was, you say there is a flat piece on the t 

that partition about two or threeinches wide? A Yet. 

Q Now, that partition, at the back of that toilet, 

not the same partition which is at the back of Chard's 

is it ? A They are all made right through alike, diid the 

stage backs on all the same framework. 

Q Weill there are two partitions between the back 

the partitions and the closr- ar en t there ? A 1Tot it is 

partition that way and one partition -crossways. 

Now, assuming that this Is the toilet in ..Which Duff:16 

is (indicating)? A Yes. 

MR. MC NISH: I object to sh.owing the witn ss'that*,, 

Q, There is a space between this back partition and this 

back partition (indicating)? A No space Whatever. 

Q All one piece of woo4 OM A All one piece of wood, no 

space whatever. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q When you opened this door, what was the position of the 

defendant, what part of his body was exposed to your view ? • 

A You mlan Daily? 

Q, No, this defendant here) when you op,ned that door) you 
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say. A He was turning around. 

Q Turning around, and it happened very 4410 

• A Momentary. 

Q That was all? Everything that you dawln 

taken in at that one glance? A That is it. 

Q And that is all that you actually did see* 

saw at that moment? A That is all. 

Q And you saw the defendant's penis 

and the semen running off it in that ,tim 

BY MR. CAMPBELL: 

q How much of Daily's body could: you gee at•tImit 

A When Daily's body --

Q (Interrupting). When you saw Chard titarA,4ra 

much of Daily's body could you see ? A I could 

him. He was sitting on the seat :Daily was. 

Q In otter words, when .you swung this door opell.v7ola. 

swung it from left to right, did you? A The onethat Da. 

was in swung to the right. 

q Did you see Daily beforeyou saw Chard ? A I saw .1)44, 

first. 

Q You iaw Daily first? A Yes. He was sitting on the 

seat. 

Q, And then; after Daily's door was opened, a d13)! 

Daily, you opened Chard's door A Opened Chard!s d9Oi 

riFht. 
• 
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Q, And when you Opened Chardts doorl, 

penis in Daily's mouth? A Oh, no. 

Q He had not A No.. He jumped. On t 

other door was opened. 

MR. MC NISH: That is the. People's Oa 

MR. CAMPBELL: I move to acquits if•_! 

please, upon the ground .that th prosecution, 

to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the 04)0 

tamed, in the indictment; upon the ground 

an absolute variance between the pleadings an 

MR. Nn NISH:' I am going to ask to am 

Honor please, the indictment, to 

THE COURT: What do you 

MR. CAMPBAT,L: T _ 

Honor, as to the second coun 

the first. 

MR. JifiC NISH: Well, the second count se 

properly stated in my copy, as the proof is, 

THE COURT: Then the People elect to go tot 

upon the second count, I tRke it, is that it 

IfiC NISH: Yes, your Honor. 

NR. CAMPBELL: The second count, as yout4 Bono 

not21 alIrv'es that the defendant Chard, loy the 'Mouth .0 

that Chard had carnal knowledge of Dai 

THE COURT: I will strike out "selfs 

say as to t 
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of him". 

MR. CAIMBELL : To whidh obj et. 

THE COURT: I will-send the-ease. to 

second count. 

MR. CAMPBELL : I take an exe e pti on to ytIW 

well, your Honor has not f ormally denied my notion 

suppose that means that and I t ak e an exception to  

Honor' s refusal to direct the jury to acgait upon. 

grounds stated. 

waive any opening and will put my caSe: 

serve any remarks I have for the close of the :019,A 

THE D-EFENS E. 

ARTHUR CHARD, the .defendant, being ma, 

sworn as a witness on behalf or the defense; 

MR. CAMPBELL: With yoUr Honor' s permission., 
• 

withdraw this witness, as I have some charactor 

here, and While that is not the  usual order ar jor9X)f* 

would like them to testify to-day, and will not baNra 

br in 7 th em here later. 

THE COURT: Yes you might a() that, because I 'atil 

to djourn. Lt (.1.urt er past three. 
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WILLIAM 1 ARTIN VAN SAU 

and duly sworn at a witness on behalf of the 

tified as follows: 

DIRECT IXAMINATION BY MR. CA1tPBET.74: 

Q Now, please keep your voice up a little 

A Yes,. sir. 

Q Mr. Van Saun, how long have you resided inlew York: 

A All my life. 

Q How long have you known the defendant? A NecIrly two 

years. 

Q That is your business, sir Al am bookkeapor and 

confidential clerk. 

clerk. 

Chard? 

Louder, Please. A I am bookkeeper and doOfid 

For what concern? A The C ntral Stamping COOPAIly. 

How long have you been SO employed?  A Alpo*. 06 years,* 

Do you know Other people who know the defendant, Artliar 

A I do. 

Do you know what hie general reputation is tor truth 

and veracity and clean living  A I do, It has been that of 

a gentleman. 

CROSS VAMINATION BY MR. TIM NISH: 

Q (1.1d you 'rirst come to know th,,,. defendant- A I met 

him at the house of a mutual friend. 

Q Thereabouts ? A In this ott 



Q When was that ? A About well very near 

ago, when I first became acquainted with him. 

Can you fix what month that was 

not. 

Q In whose house was that ? A The house of 

Q Do you remember the name ? 

MR. CAMPBELL: 1 object to that.. In this -004-6 I 

not think it iS necessary to have that. Here t . 

Eentleman who has been.employed'for twenty-fiVe Years 

one place in New York City, and he met the  defendant it' 

the home of a laaY. 

THE COURT: Yes, unless it is important 6:14 

think I would disclose the name, because I do, not consider 

that very material, unless there is some purposa tYahin4 

it Which will assail the, reputation of the defendant. 

MR. MC NISH: Well, I will withdraw that. 
0 

Q And when did you next, after that first meeting, Meet 

this defendant? A Why, •not a great While after that. 

Q Where ? A At the same kind of an entertainment. 

And what was the entertainment? A Well it was an 

afternoon "at home", a lady received from4 

Q And the second time you met him at an afternoon:rapr 

tion at the same place ? A I don't, reml7fber Whether it Was,or-

not. 

Q How often have you met the def,.ndant in the last tw 
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years, A Woll within the last six or•el 

met him some weeks three and four times; 
' 

two and three times. 

Q And always, at social functions ? A WI 

go out to dinner quite frequently' togetheran 

not go to the theatre, we would go to my roman 

Where do you reside ? A :229 West 404. 

Q Are you married ? A I am not. 

(1 And what Is 229 West 44th , A It is'a furnts 

house. 

Q And you have how many roams there ? haVe o 

Q Do you know where the defendant lives ? 

Where ? A 71 West 48th. 

Q And has he lived there ever since you /Ia. 

A He has. 

(I Do you know what the defendant's business 

Q Have you ever seen him1 at his place of IDUSUI4 

A No, sir. 

Q And what you know of  his business is only bscauS 

has told you? A Yes. 

Q Do you know other people who know the.def intl 

Q Have you ever talked over the defendant's charloter. 

any one? A Only since this troUble. 

Q Only since this trouble ? A That's all. There hall:. 

been no ocoasiom befor. 
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Q, The Central Stamping Company, there ;iti 

business•? A 72 Fuiton street. 

Q 'Whet is their budiess? A Enargiallea wart's 

Q Enamelled ware  

Q That kind of ware 1 A .Kitahen. ware, 

Q And you are bookkeeper and oonfidential 

A Yes, sir. 

Q For whom are you confidential clerk? 

How long have you been employed there ? 

five years. 

Q How long have you resided at 2 9 -West 44th stregt 

A Since last September. 

Q Where did you reside before that? A 66 West a4•01k* 

Q What kind of house was that? A That was 

housE. 

Q What is the name of it ? A Lt has no n011e* 

You had an apartment there?.A No just $11r.t4) 

Q And in whose apartment did you have the room.? 

A A Mrs. Bartlett. 

Q Have you ever been'to the Mdlls Hotel? Illavt,not* 

FRANK SARGENT, being called and duly, sworn at 

witness on behalf of the defendant, testified as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. CAMPBYLL: 

Wher9 do you live ? A 10 West 65th . 

Q, How louoiav uu livid in New,York Ci ? A'To years  
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What is your occupation? A ii the $444 

Company. 

Q What is your position in the Bankers 

A Bookkeeper. 

Q Where did you live before you came to New Yu'. 

A Ireland, with the Provincial Bank of Ireland'''. for 

Q How long have you known the defendant ? A, Attlit 

years 'or so. 

Q For how long a time have, you known him in this= countr 

About two years. 

Q Previously to that were you acquainted with:him 4 

where ? A London. 

Q Canada ? A London, England. 

Q Have you seen a great deal of the defendant? 

a great deal. 

Q, As  with him a great deal? A Yes. 

Q And do you know other people Who know him? A Yes, 

Q Do you know what his reputation is for truth and up-

rightness and clean livinc A I do. 

Q That is it, good or bad ? A Good. 

Q You have had many opportunities to observe what his 

private life is ? A Yes. 

MR. MC NIS7: I object to th question. 

TH11; COUR.T: Yes, it seems to me ^..lverYthing. else is a 

natter of crosc-exEminatin. 
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All right) 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MC NISH: 

Q Have you ever discussed his character 

with any one ? A I have. 

Q When ? A Latterly. 

0., Since he has been arrested ? A Yes. 

Q Before that did you Aver discuss it with tank One 9 

A I don't remenber. 

Q Well then, so far as you know, or that to •$4 

had no reputation for cleanliness before he was arrest e4 1 

A His reputation was the highest,. 

MR. CAMPBELL:' One moment That is :o 

THA COURT: You have an answer thattiutlit 

isfactory. Do you want that-striCken.074'. 

MR. CAMPBELT): No sir; - I want to 14t tliat 

It was the form of the question to Which I obj,e0W 

the answer. 

Q Do you know where the defendant lived when lk.r.00 

came to this country? A Yee. 

17here ? A Tre went to live at 71 West 48th street 

I forr-et wl,nt month. 

Q Did he ever live with you? A No. 

0 To you know Yr. William ‘Iilartin Van Satan ? A Mr. Van 

Salm) ::05# 

"OW li.jv hnv ou :known him ? A A few monthsA 



Did you know him before.thAs 

And are you married ? A No, 

I did .not hear you. 

A 3.0 lrem4 6 

A 10 West 55th 

What kind of house is that A Thetfc. 

Q It is an apartment house ?, A Yetio. 

Q, And what is the name of the apartmenthouse 

is no name. 

Q Just a number? A Suet a nu01) 

Q And do you have an apartment of your oygn? 

with a family. 

Q Board with a family? A Yes. 

Q What is the name of the family You board'with 

A Green. 

Q Who composes that family? A Who Which? The.10ther 

and daughter; two daughters, one is away, and a little son* 

Q Where have you met the defendant? A In London. 

Q No, but since you have been in this country, Where 

would you meet him? A Well, he is constantly at my place) an 

I very often dined with him. We go to shows now and then. 

Q. You dinedtorr,ether, where ? A Well, I sametimee'dint00y 

his place. 

Q And how many tines a week would you see the defend*Ott: 



43 

A Maybe a couple maybe three times. I know h 

anybody else here. sedhim very constantly, 

Q. Did this Mr. Martin Van Saun dine with 

have been at dinner with him. 

Q Have you attended receptions with the d 

noon receptions? A No. 

Q Did the defendant ever 

A No. 

A No. 

Q You are very friendly with the defendant 

friendly. 

; 
spend' the nigh in your.aPa 

Q Did you ever the night ih the defendant'S apartment?' 

And you would like to do anything to help him Oat ,OT 

his trouble ? A Yes, if he was ever in trouble, / certain3$ 

would. 

THE COURT: Gentlemen, you must not discuss this case, 

nor form nor express any opinion about it, but keep your 

minds open and free until it is sullaitted to you. 

I will ask you to be here in your seats at half past 

ten o'clock to -morrow. 

(The further trial of the case was then adjourned 

until Thursday, April 8th, 1909, at 10.30 o'clock A.7.) 
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